1964

National American Life Insurance Co. v. Bayou Country Club, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

In an action to foreclose a mortgage on a country club, defendant Bayou Country Club, hereinafter called BAYOU, counterclaimed, asserting the loan was usurious and claiming forfeiture of unpaid interest, treble the amount of an alleged discount, treble the amount of sums paid allocable to interest, and an attorney's fee.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The court at pretrial ruled:

(1) Bayou did not receive value to the extent of \$14,-
500.00 on a \$65,000 loan, despite receipt by it of a satis-

faction of its outstanding note in the amount of \$15,000, executed by Bayou in favor of a third party, Frank A. Nelson, Jr.

(2) The loan was usurious.

(3) Payments on the \$65,000 loan could not be allotted to principal rather than to interest.

(4) The amount of \$14,500 was held to be a discount and it, together with installment payments allocable to interest in the amount of \$2630.27 should be trebled and awarded to Bayou.

(5) Bayou was not estopped to assert usury.

The trial court ruled:

(6) The Utah usury statutes are constitutional.

(7) Plaintiff was given judgment on its complaint for \$65,293.81 together with \$6000 attorneys' fees and costs.

(8) Bayou was given judgment on its counterclaim for \$51,390.81 together with \$5000 attorneys' fees.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks an award of interest on its note and reversal of Bayou's judgment on its counterclaim and dismissal of the counterclaim. In the alternative, appellant seeks reversal of Bayou's judgment on its counterclaim with a remand for trial on the questions of usury and estoppel and with direction that, in the event Bayou should recover on its counterclaim, such recovery should exclude treble the amount of the \$14,500 discount.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A statement of facts which can be made based upon

the record in this case is necessarily fragmentary because the court, at a pretrial hearing, entertained a motion by Bayou for summary judgment, made without any notice, and granted the motion without affording plaintiff an opportunity to present evidence, despite the complicated factual situation involved.

Inasmuch as all issues except constitutionality and amount of attorneys fees were decided on summary judgment, the facts on all issues except those two should be considered in a light most favorable to appellant.

This action was commenced by Continental Republic Life Insurance Company, a Utah corporation, to foreclose on a \$65,000 note and mortgage executed by Bayou. Bayou was a newly incorporated corporation organized for profit. It was organized for the purpose of constructing club facilities and selling memberships to buyers, who would have no equity in the facilities, but only the right to use them. (R. 445, p. 2-3)

The venture was underfinanced. After acquiring land southeast of Salt Lake City, and starting construction of a clubhouse thereon, the corporation ran out of money. (R. 445, p. 4) Being desperately in need of funds, George Padjen, Leland Olsen and Nolan Olsen, the officers and organizers of the Bayou, asked Frank A. Nelson, Jr., the president of the Murray State Bank, where the new club had its account, to find a lender who would lend them enough to complete their building project.

Because of the nature of the loan and insolvency of the borrower, the Murray State Bank was not interested

in making the loan. Nelson, as Bayou's agent, approached Marvin Bainum, the president of Continental Republic Life Insurance Company, to interest that company in making a loan. A loan was made by Continental. A \$65,000 note was executed by Bayou. Bayou received an insurance policy, \$50,000 cash and cancellation of Bayou's outstanding note in the amount of \$15,000 payable to Nelson. There is no evidence at all as to the consideration for the \$15,000 note, or why or when it was given, but there is nothing to indicate that it was other than what it purported to be on its face. Assuming there was a cancellation of Bayou's debt to Nelson, as the court considering the matter on summary judgment should have done, Bayou received full value for the \$65,000 loan.

The lower court however assumed that there never was a debt from Bayou to Nelson, and that the note for \$15,000 and cancellation thereof was fictitious. In the event this court should also assume the \$15,000 note was fictitious, we set forth the following additional facts.

It was agreed that there should be a note and mortgage from Bayou to Continental Republic, in the amount of \$65,000 which would bear interest at 9%, but that \$500 would be retained to pay the premium on an insurance policy, and that there would be a discount of \$14,500 so that the net amount advanced would be \$50,000.

Bainum handled the negotiations for Continental Republic. Bainum had been familiar with usury laws of states which permitted such discount and it was his

opinion and belief that such a discount would not make the loan usurious in Utah. (R. 242)

Nelson, unknown to plaintiff was getting a commission from Bayou in addition to a \$2000 commission from plaintiff. (R. 242, 445, p. 24, 446 p. 14) The court refused to allow plaintiff to make Nelson a party to the suit.

Nelson arranged the closing of the transaction, which occurred September 7, 1961. (R. 446 p. 16) Continental Republic made its check in the amount of \$65,000 payable to Bayou and to McGhie Abstract Company. Bainum expected that McGhie Abstract Company, in closing the transaction, would cash the \$65,000 check and retain \$15,000 for Continental Republic (\$500 for the insurance premium and \$14,500 as a discount) and that Nelson would get a \$2000 commission from Continental Republic from the \$14,500.

Unknown to Bainum, a \$15,000 note bearing date of August 10, 1961 payable from Bayou Country Club to Frank Nelson was cancelled by Frank Nelson. The note was marked "Paid 9-12-61 Frank A. Nelson, Jr.," with the further statement thereon "September 6, 1961. TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN: The Bayou Country Club is indebted to me personally, in the amount of \$15,000." (Signed) "Frank A. Nelson, Jr." (R. 448, p. 6, exhibit I) Unknown to Bainum, this cancelled note was delivered by Nelson to McGhie Abstract Company as consideration for the \$15,000 portion of the loan, which Bainum anticipated would be treated as a payment of premium and a discount. McGhie Abstract gave Nelson its check in the

amount of \$15,000 in payment for the \$15,000 note from Bayou to Nelson. (R. 448, p. 6, exhibit 5) What Nelson did with it does not appear in the record but Bayou conceded that it received value to the extent of \$500 for a premium on an insurance policy. McGhie Abstract held the remaining \$50,000 for Bayou's account but earmarked part for payment of mechanics liens and other encumbrances, so that it could issue a title policy insuring Continental Republic as mortgagee.

Five monthly payments totalling \$3876.56 were made by Bayou after which it defaulted on the loan. Continental Republic had to advance \$1540.10 for taxes and fire insurance on the mortgaged property, when Bayou failed to pay for them. Continental Republic demanded payment of the note and mortgage and when the demand was not met commenced a foreclosure proceeding.

The suit necessarily involved numerous parties including mechanics lien claimants. A receiver was appointed. The receiver employed Nolan Olsen, one of the organizers of Bayou, and Bayou's attorney, as his attorney. Bayou counterclaimed in the foreclosure action alleging usury.

After the commencement of the action and prior to this appeal, Continental Republic Life Insurance Company was merged into National American Life Insurance Company, which, as successor, inherited the problems which arose from its predecessor's dealings.

Judge Hanson on pretrial ruled, as a matter of law, that there was no consideration for \$14,500 of the \$65,000

loan; that such discount made the loan usurious; that, in addition to that portion of the monthly installment payments allocable to interest (\$2630.27) the \$14,500 discount should be trebled and awarded to Bayou. He also ruled that Bayou was not estopped to assert usury. He left two issues to be determined at the trial. (1) whether or not the usury laws of the state of Utah are unconstitutional, and (2) the amount the parties should recover as attorneys fees.

Judge Faux took evidence on only one issue, the amount of attorneys fees. He held the usury statutes constitutional and awarded plaintiff judgment for the full amount of its note together with advances but with no interest, in the total amount of \$65,293.81 together with \$6000 attorneys' fees, and awarded Bayou, on its counterclaim for usury, \$51,390.81, being the total of treble the amount of \$14,500 discount, treble the monthly instalment payments of \$2630.27 allocable to interest, and \$5000 attorneys' fees.

STATEMENT OF POINTS AND ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THERE WAS AN ISSUE OF FACT AS TO WHETHER OR NOT THE LOAN WAS USURIOUS.

No summary judgment determining that there was a usurious transaction should have been entered.

“Whether a transaction is usurious is a question of fact, unless the instrument on its face shows the exaction of an illegal rate of interest.” *Massie v. Rubin*, 270 F. 2d 60, 62.

If it be assumed that Bayou received full value for the \$65,000 loan, there would be no usury, regardless of how much plaintiff benefited from the loan.

In a similar situation, where the lender benefited by more than the maximum permissible interest rate, by virtue of receiving from a broker a portion of the commission paid by the borrower, it was held that there was no usury because the borrower received full value.

“Usury is not shown by the fact that a lender receives from the borrower’s agent, as a condition of making the loan, half of the commission which the borrower has already agreed to pay the agent for his services in procuring the loan, although the amount so received by the lender added to the rate reserved for the loan, exceeds the legal rate of interest—” *Mortgage Bond Co. v. Stephens*, (1937) 181 Okla. 182, 72 P. 2d 831, 839. See also, *Pushee v. Johnson* (1936) 123 Fla. 305, 166 S. 847, 105 ALR 789 and 55 *Am. Jur.* Usury Par. 71.

So, here, where Bayou’s obligation to pay \$15,000 was cancelled, the fact that plaintiff benefited by being able to discount the \$65,000 loan by the amount of \$14,500 does not make the loan usurious.

The record indicates that value *was* received by cancellation of the \$15,000 note. There is no evidence whatsoever that this note did not constitute a valid obligation. Neither Bayou nor Nelson has stated that no debt was cancelled. It was pure surmise by Judge Hanson that the note was fictitious. Nelson’s version of the transaction could not have been considered by Judge Hanson because he did not even open Nelson’s deposition.

It is still in its sealed envelope marked "Awaiting Order of the Court." Summary judgments were reversed in similar situations in *Thompson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 14 Utah 2d 334, 384 P. 2d 109, and in *Schubach v. Wagner*, 14 Utah 2d 335, 384 P. 2d 110. Even if witnesses had stated the \$15,000 note was fictitious, there would have been an issue of fact thereon. For Judge Hanson to rule, by way of summary judgment on *no* evidence, that the discharge of the note did not constitute consideration is doubly erroneous.

"Summary judgment can properly be granted under Rule 56(c) only if 'the pleadings, depositions, and admission on file, together with the affidavits, if any,' which are offered, show without dispute that the party is entitled to prevail. This condition is obviously not met if the allegations of the plaintiff's complaint stand in opposition to to the averments of the affidavits so that there are controverted issues of fact, the determination of which is necessary to settle the rights of the parties." *Christensen v. Financial Service Co.*, 14 Utah 2d 101, 377 P.2d 1010, 1012.

Plaintiff denied all of the allegations of Bayou's counterclaim thereby creating issues of fact (R. 25).

"In confronting the problem presented on this appeal we have been obliged to remain aware that a summary judgment, which turns a party out of court without an opportunity to present his evidence, is a harsh measure that should be granted only when, taking the view most favorable to a party's claims and any proof that might properly be adduced thereunder, he could in no event prevail." *Kidman v. White*, 14 Utah 2d 142, 378 P. 2d 898, 900.

The court there reversed a summary judgment because there were issues of fact which should have been determined upon a trial. The court should do likewise here.

POINT 2

THERE WAS AN ISSUE OF FACT AS TO WHETHER OR NOT BAYOU SHOULD BE ESTOPPED TO ASSERT USURY.

If it be assumed, however, that Judge Hanson was correct in determining, on no evidence, that Bayou did not receive value to the extent of \$14,500 by having its note for \$15,000 satisfied, such determination must then rest upon the conclusion that the \$15,000 note was fictitious. In that event, plaintiff was entitled to show at a trial that Bayou should be estopped to assert usury. Such estoppel would result from proof that plaintiff did not know the loan was usurious and did not know of the \$15,000 note, and that it was Bayou and Nelson who did know the loan was usurious and conspired to create a usurious loan, and that it would be inequitable to permit Bayou to recover when Bayou, not plaintiff, conspired to create a situation whereby Bayou could benefit by the forfeitures and penalties awarded on its counterclaim.

“The acts of a borrower in securing a loan may be such as to constitute fraud or to estop him from taking advantage of the penalties provided for in the usury statutes. . . . Usury statutes are enacted to protect borrowers from the demands of unscrupulous lenders, and not to provide vehicles for unjust windfalls.” *Massie v. Rubin*, 270 F. 2d 60, 62. See also *Nikkel v.*

Lindhorst, 85 Colo. 334, 276 P. 678 and annotation 63 ALR 962.

POINT 3

PAYMENTS MAY BE ALLOTTED BY THE LENDER TO PRINCIPAL RATHER THAN TO INTEREST AND THERE IS THEREFORE NO PAYMENT OF INTEREST TO BE TREBLED AS DAMAGES.

If it be assumed that there is usury, and that *payments of interest* by Bayou should be trebled and awarded to Bayou, there is nothing to be trebled, because so long as there is principal unpaid, allocations of payments will be made to reduction of principal instead of to interest. 15-1-7 UCA provides for forfeiture of all interest to be paid and for the recovery of three times the interest paid:

“15-1-7. USURY — FORFEITURE OF ALL INTEREST — TRIPLE DAMAGES FOR INTEREST ALREADY PAID—LIMITATION OF ACTION. — The taking, receiving, reserving, or charging of a rate of interest greater than is allowed by section 15-1-2, shall be deemed a forfeiture of the entire interest which the note, bill, or other evidence of debt carries with it, or which has been agreed to be paid thereon. In case the greater rate of interest has been paid the person by whom it has been paid, or his legal representatives, may recover back three times the amount of the interest thus paid from the receiver or taker thereof and reasonable attorney fees, provided that such action is commenced within two years from the time the usurious transaction occurred.”

Before applying such harsh treble damage provision—the cases require that the borrower be actually out of

pocket more than he has received from the lender. To rule otherwise would permit a totally uninjured borrower to get a windfall. Until the borrower has paid an amount equal to the principal, there has been no injury. Therefore, not only the discount, but also the five instalment payments which were made, should be allocated to reduce the principal.

This rule was applied in the case of *McBroom v. Scottish Mortg. & Land Invest. Co.*, 153 U.S. 318, 328, 38 L. Ed. 729, 733, 14 Sup. Ct. Rep. 852, which arose under a statute of New Mexico which provided that collection of interest at a higher rate than 12 per cent was a misdemeanor, and which statute gave a right of action to the borrower to collect double the amount so paid. Interest notes were given upon a loan of \$65,000.00 and a commission of 10 per cent upon the entire loan was paid to the lender at the time of the transaction. *After the first interest note was paid*, the borrower brought suit to recover double the amount of the commission. Said the U.S. Supreme Court:

“The contract of loan not being void, except as to the excess of interest stipulated to be paid, the question arises whether the lender is liable to an action for the penalty prescribed by the statute, so long as the principal debt, with legal interest thereon, after deducting all payments, is unpaid. We are of opinion that this question must be answered in the negative. While, under the statute, the mere charging of usurious interest may be a misdemeanor for which the lender can be fined, whether such usurious interest is or is not collected or received, the borrower has no

cause of action until usurious interest has been actually collected or received from him. Such cannot be said to have been collected or received, in excess of what may be lawfully collected and received, until the lender has in fact, after giving credit for all payments, collected or received more than the sum loaned. . . ." and, quoting from another case the court continued:

"From the origin of the loan, from the retaining of the first discount, through all the renewals up to the time of final payment of the principal, or up to the time of entering judgments, there is a *locus poenitentiae* for the party taking the excessive interest. Any time till then he may consider the excessive interest paid on account of the loan, and so apply it and lessen the principal. Up to that time he may make this election. When payment is actually made or judgment is entered the election is made; and if, as in these cases, judgment is entered for the face amount of the notes or full amount of the loan, or payment is taken in full without any reduction by taking out the excessive interest, the cause of action is complete."

Other statements of the same rule are the following:

". . . as between the parties to the transaction, or holders with knowledge, all payments of usurious interest made on the series of notes will be applied by the law to the extinguishment of the debt, and this even though the parties have treated such payments as payments of interest. . . ."
Gladwin State Bank v. Dow, 212 Mich. 521, 180 NW 601, 13 ALR 1233, 1243. See also *Citizens*

National Bank v. Gentry, 111 Ky. 206, 63 S.W. 454, 56 LRA 673; *First Natl. Bank v. Denson*, 115 Ala. 650, 22 So. 815.

“ . . . where partial payments are made on a usurious loan, the bank may at any time before payment of the principal apply the partial payment thereto and so avoid liability for the penalty for taking unlawful interest.” 55 *Am. Jur.*, Usury, Par. 151.

A recent case following the United States Supreme Court's decision in the *McBroom* case, is *Rukavina v. Accounts Supervision Corporation*, 241 MA 195, 237 S.W. 2d 503, 508.

Bayou cannot assert that it has been damaged until it has at least paid back a sum equal to the amount of principal it received.

POINT 4

A DISCOUNT IS NOT SUBJECT TO BEING TREBLED.

If it be assumed there was usury, and that payments cannot be allocated to principal, the only *interest payment* to be trebled would be a portion of the monthly instalment payments. The discount was never “paid” nor is it “interest,” both of which are required for any treble damages under 15-1-7 UCA 1953 as amended:

“In case the greater rate of *interest* has been paid, the person by whom it has been *paid* . . . may recover back three times the amount of the interest thus paid from the receiver or taker thereof and reasonable attorney's fees . . .”

Assuming, as Judge Hanson did, that Frank Nelson's cancellation of Bayou's note for \$15,000 was a sham and

an effort on Nelson's part to disguise the fact that Bayou had not received the full \$65,000, then the substance of the transaction, regardless of the form it may have had, was that plaintiff discounted the loan. That might make the loan usurious, but would not constitute a payment by Bayou subject to being trebled. If Bayou paid \$15,000 where did it get it? It had no funds. It's only source was plaintiff's loan. If it in fact received the \$15,000 and paid it back, there would be no discount, and therefore no usury at all. The only thing that might make the loan usurious is a discount. Bayou is most illogical in asserting that the loan is usurious because it was discounted \$15,000 and asserting, at the same time, that it actually paid out that same \$15,000, and that very discount should be trebled along with the trebling of installment payments allocable to interest, under our statute which trebles only interest paid.

"... the requirement of actual payment is not satisfied by the circumstance that when the evidence of the debt was executed and the loan made, a usurious discount was reserved. Deductions by way of a discount when money for a loan is advanced are not treated as payments, because they do not come out of the debtor's pocket, even though they lessen the amount which he receives, and even though when sued for the amount advanced he may plead usury and escape liability for the amount thus charged and retained. . . ."

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