1964

# National American Life Insurance Co. v. Bayou Country Club, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

In an action to foreclose a mortgage on a country club, defendant-respondent, Bayou Country Club, Incorporated, counterclaimed asserting the loan was usurious and claiming forfeiture of unpaid interest, treble the amount of \$14,500.00 paid by defendant to plaintiff in consideration of a \$65,000.00 first mortgage loan; treble the amount of \$2,630.27 which had been allocated to interest by plaintiff; and an attorney's fee.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

At pretrial, Honorable Stewart M. Hanson ruled that as a matter of law plaintiff, Continental Republic Life Insurance Company, had violated the usury laws of Utah and that in consequence of said violation the interest on plaintiff's note was forfeited; that the \$14,500.00 paid to plaintiff by defendant be trebled; that the \$2,630.27 allocated by plaintiff to interest on the monthly payments paid by defendant be trebled.

At trial, Honorable Merrill C. Faux, after reviewing all previous orders, depositions and briefs, ruled by way of judgment that as a matter of law plaintiff had violated the usury laws of Utah; that defendant had paid plaintiff for making the loan the sum of \$14,500.00 and had paid additional interest of \$2,630.27, both of which sums were allowed to be trebled; that plaintiff should be awarded judgment for the sum of \$65,293.81, together with an attorney's fee of \$6,000.00



and costs; and that defendant should be granted judgment for \$51,390.81, together with an attorney's fee in the sum of \$5,000.00. Plaintiff, after offsetting defendant's judgment, would receive \$14,903.00, which sum included the \$6,000.00 attorney's fee.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks to have the lower court's judgment of March 31, 1964, affirmed in regard to defendant-respondent's counterclaim. Defendant further seeks to have the \$6,000.00 attorney's fee awarded to plaintiff disallowed, or in the alternative, to have the attorney's fee reduced commensurate with plaintiff's recovery after offsetting defendant's counterclaim.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant does not agree with the Statement of Facts as set forth in plaintiff's brief.

At all times during the course of the litigation in the lower court, counsel for plaintiff admitted that the sum of \$15,000.00 had been received by plaintiff in consideration for making the loan. Defendant, during the course of hearings, stipulated that \$500.00 of the \$15,000.00 had been used for an insurance policy on the life of the president of defendant, George Padjen. It was further stipulated by plaintiff and defendant that \$2,630.27 was the correct sum which plaintiff had charged to interest, calculated on the basis of nine per cent (9%) per annum on the sum of \$65,000.00.

Plaintiff commenced an action against defendant for the sum of \$65,298.77, interest and attorney's fees (R. 1, 5).

Defendant did not at any time have knowledge that Frank A. Nelson Jr. was to receive any part of the \$15,000.00. (R. 450, p. 14, 25). Frank A. Nelson Jr., upon instructions from plaintiff, and as an agent of plaintiff, procured from McGhie Abstract Company a check in the sum of \$15,000.00. (R. 448, Exhibit "J". R. 450, p. 16, 17, 20). Frank A. Nelson Jr. then returned to his bank, and upon the instructions of Marvin Bainum, president of Continental Republic Life Insurance Company, deposited the check (R. 450, Exhibit "C"). The sum of \$12,500.00 was deposited to the account of plaintiff. (R. 450, Exhibits "E", "F"). The sum of \$2,000.00 was deposited to the account of Frank A. Nelson Jr. (R. 450, Exhibit "C" and Exhibit "G"). The remaining \$500.00 was remitted to plaintiff for a premium on a life insurance policy on the life of George Padjen, president of defendant (R. 450, Exhibit "C").

Frank A. Nelson Jr. was informed by plaintiff to procure the \$15,000.00 from defendant at the time the loan was closed (R. 450, p. 17, 30). Defendant had orally promised Frank A. Nelson Jr. the sum of \$1,000.00 for his services, which sum was to be paid at a later date (R. 450, p. 14).

Although Honorable Stewart M. Hanson ruled at pretrial on certain segments of the case, Honorable Merrill C. Faux at a hearing held February 13, 1964,

stated that since it was incumbent on him to sign the final judgment he would examine the entire record, including depositions. Thereafter, on March 31, 1964, after concluding the record warranted the judgment, the Honorable Merrill C. Faux signed the final judgment (R. 280).

## STATEMENT OF POINTS AND ARGUMENT

### POINT I

**THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT AS A MATTER OF LAW THE LOAN WAS USURIOUS.**

The pretrial judge, Honorable Stewart M. Hanson, and the trial judge, Merrill C. Faux, each ruled as a matter of law the loan was usurious.

Plaintiff at no time denied that they had not demanded and received the \$14,500.00 as a consideration for making the loan to defendant. The note on its face showed an interest charge of nine per cent (9%) per annum on the sum of \$65,000.00. From this, it is a simple calculation to show that plaintiff was receiving far in excess of the ten per cent (10%) allowed by Section 15-1-2 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended. The \$14,500.00 paid by defendant to plaintiff was 22.31 per cent of the entire loan.

It is the agreement to exact and pay usurious interest and not the performance of the agreement which renders it usurious.

"The test to be applied in any given case is whether the contract, if performed according to its terms, would result in producing to the lender a rate of interest greater than is allowed by law." *Seebold v. Eustermann*, 216 Minn. 566, 13 N.W. 2d 739. Annotated in 152 ALR 585.

"Since the usurious character of a transaction is determined as of the date of its inception, if a contract is usurious in its inception, no subsequent transaction will cure it." *Gaitler v. Farmers & M. Bank*, 7 L. Ed. 43.

Although a note was executed and cancelled in the amount of \$15,000.00, this was done only as a subterfuge to obtain the \$15,000.00 from the McGhie Abstract Company.

"A court will look to the substance of every transaction as to which usury is pleaded, and if the lender is securing a greater benefit than that provided by law by any kind of a device, the contract will be held usurious, although it is cloaked under the guise of a commission, bonus or other name." *Wallace v. Zinman*, 200 Cal. 585, 245 P. 964. See also *Haines v. Commercial Mortgage Co.*, 200 Cal. 609, 254 P. 956, and 55 Am. Jur., Usury Section 14.

"A note is to be tested for usury with reference to the actual sum received by the borrower and not by the face amount of the note." *Taylor v. Budd*, 217 Cal. 262, 18 P. 2d 333.

"In testing for a usurious exaction, a fee or bonus beyond the legal rate of interest constitutes an additional charge for interest." *Haines v. Commercial Mortgage Co.*, Supra. See also

*Murphy v. Wilson*, 153 Cal. App. 2d 132, 314 P. 2d 507.

Defendant cannot be estopped from defending on the grounds that usury has been perpetrated as the demand for the payment of \$14,500.00 was made by plaintiff and it is irrational to conceive that a borrower would conspire to create a usurious loan when the need for money to protect a borrower's security is so great that each dollar becomes the difference between success and failure.

"In view of the purpose of the usury statute to protect necessitous and needy borrowers from the oppression of lenders, it is unanimously held that the borrower is not particeps criminis with the lender in the usurious transaction, the lender alone being the violator of the law." *Seebold v. Eustermann*, Supra. See also 55 Am. Jur., Usury, Section 101.

Plaintiff as a proposition that a payment to Frank A. Nelson Jr. by defendant was not usurious because the defendant received full value, sets forth the case of *Mortgage Bond Company v. Stephens*, 181 Okla. 182, 72 P. 2d 831, in which case the court stated:

"No additional burden was placed on borrower as the commission paid in the amount of \$400.00 on a \$10,000.00 loan was not in consideration for making said loan, as an agreement had been previously entered into by which the \$400.00 was to be paid to the agent." See also *Pushee v. Johnson*, 123 Fla. 305, 166 S. 847.

This was not true in regard to the defendant, as de-

fendant had promised Frank A. Nelson Jr. \$1,000.00, which was to be paid at a later date, and the \$14,500.00 demanded and paid to plaintiff was a condition of and in consideration of making the loan, and defendant had no knowledge that Frank A. Nelson Jr. was to receive any of said sum (R. 450, p. 14, 25).

It seems to be unanimously held that the requirement that the borrower pay a commission to the intermediary through whom the loan was actually or apparently negotiated will be held to constitute usury if the court can see that the payment in excess of the lawful interest was really exacted as a consideration for the loan and not as compensation for the services of the intermediary to the borrower. *Tompkins v. Vaught*, 138 Ark. 262, 211 S.W. 361. See also *Dickey v. Phoenix Finance Co.*, 193 Ark. 1145, 104 S.W.2d 806; *Addeson v. B. F. Dittmar Co.*, 124 Tex. 564, 80 S.W. 2d 939. Annot ated in 52 ALR 2d 703.

And in a recent Washington case, *Ostigui v. A. F. Frank Construction Company*, 55 Wash. 2d 350, 347, P. 2d 1049, in which the borrower was required as a consideration of a loan of \$10,000.00 to pay \$2,000.00 to an attorney, even where it could not be shown that the lender received the \$2,000.00, the court reasoned that even if there is no evidence that lender benefited or received any portion of the \$2,000.00 paid to the attorney, it does not relieve lender of the charge of usury.

Plaintiff contends that the depositions of Frank

A. Nelson Jr. are not part of the record. However, all depositions including two (2) depositions of Frank A. Nelson Jr. were published by the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson at pretrial (R. 202).

## POINT 2

### PAYMENTS MAY NOT BE ALLOCATED TO PRINCIPAL TO MAKE INVALID THE PENALTY CLAUSE OF THE USURY STATUTE.

If we use plaintiff's line of argument, the penalty provisions of Section 15-1-7, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, would never be allowed or applicable, as it provides therein:

"In case the greater rate of interest has been paid, the person by whom it has been paid, or his legal representatives, may recover back three times the amount of the interest thus paid from the receiver or taker thereof, and reasonable attorney's fees, provided that such action is commenced within two (2) years from the time the usurious transaction occurred."

The action by such statute must be commenced within two (2) years from the time the usurious transaction occurred, and if we use the facts of this case as an example, the principal sum would not be paid for fifteen (15) years, and by the payment schedule, the \$65,000.00, taking all payments and applying to principal only and not to interest, would not be paid for over eight (8) years, which would then allow plaintiff to

plead the statute of limitation as provided in such statute. This would always allow an unscrupulous lender on long term loans a defense to the penalty provision, as if the action were commenced within the two (2) year statute of limitations he could defend on the ground that all payments are allocated to principal, and if a borrower waited until the principal was paid, the lender would defend on the statute of limitations. This was not the intent of the legislature, as Section 15-1-7, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, specifically provides: "In case the greater rate of interest has been paid", which does not require the principal to have been paid in full. The plaintiff took the \$14,500.00 as consideration for making the loan and said sum can only be considered as additional interest as the sum was never credited to defendant as principal, as the sum of \$65,000.00 has been claimed by plaintiff at all times in these proceedings. Further, the \$2,630.27 was charged on plaintiff's books as interest, and not allocated to principal.

This principle was applied in the case of *Goodwin v. Alston*, 130 Cal. App. 2d 664, 280 P. 2d 34, in which the borrower was required as a consideration for a loan of \$70,000.00 to give lender 4,000 sacks of potatoes, which the lender sold for \$15,958.00, and in said case the lender contended that, assuming that all payments were made by borrower, they should have been allocated to principal, leaving no basis for a penalty for treble the amount paid. It was argued by lender that neither the \$15,958.00, the proceeds from the 4,000 sacks of



potatoes, nor the sum of \$673.33, which was paid as interest, the amounts which were trebled by the court, were allocated as interest by any of the parties to the transaction, and that since there was no legal obligation here, these amounts should have been allocated to principal. There was evidence that the amount of \$673.33 was allocated to interest by the lender himself when the payments were received. The California court on these facts ruled:

“With respect to the proceeds from the 4,000 sacks of potatoes, they were demanded by lender and received by him purely as a bonus for the making of the loan, and without which the loan would not have been made. As such a bonus, it comes within the provisions of the usury law, and was properly regarded as interest collected in violation of that law. While this was an unprofitable deal for the lender and the penalties were harsh, he entered into these transactions for the purpose of taking profit not permitted by the statute, and is subject to such penalties as are properly applicable.” See also *Brocke v. Naseath* 134 Cal. App. 2d 23, 285 P. 2d 291

Further, in *Home Savings & Loan Assn. v. Sanitary Fish Co.*, 156 Wash. 80, 286 P. 76, in which \$500.00 had been added to a \$3,000.00 note as a bonus, and the lender defended on the grounds that said \$500.00 bonus should be deducted from principal, the court reasoned as follows:

“A usuror could escape any severe penalty for the most outrageous usury by including usurious interest in the nominal principal of the note. For

example, a loan of \$3,000.00 could be made, for which the lender takes a note for twice that amount, or \$6,000.00, payable in one (1) year, without interest, if the law be construed in accordance with the contention of the lender in a suit from this note, in which the grossly usurious nature of the transaction should be established, the lender would nevertheless recover judgment for his \$3,000.00, since the lender could defend on the ground that the \$3,000.00 should be deducted from principal and he should have judgment for the \$3,000.00 actually due him. In such a case, the usuror would run less risk by exacting an obligation for twice or more of the amount of the actual principal of his loan for the use of the money than he would run if he required interest at the rate of thirteen per cent (13%) per annum for the use thereof."

In an 1894 case which plaintiff relies upon, *McBroom v. Scottish Mortgage & Land Investment Company*, 153 U.S. 318, 38 L. Ed. 729, 14 Sup. Ct. Rep. 852, the United States Supreme Court was interpreting a statute in New Mexico, and the court stated that as the statute only imposes a fine and penalty they would not add a penalty not prescribed by the statute, and that a penalty can only be that which a statute prescribes, and the court made the following statement:

"No question is presented in the case before us as to whether the borrower when sued for the principal debt and legal interest may of right set off the amount of any penalty prescribed by the statute of New Mexico."

Further, plaintiff uses for authority a recent case,

*Rukavina v. Accounts Supervision Corporation*, 241 MA 195, 237 S.W. 2d 503, a Missouri case, which did not allow the recovery of interest paid, but the Missouri statute in regard to usury is not similar to Utah's statute on usury, as in Section 3229 of R.S. Missouri 1939, R.S. 1949, Para. 408.050, recovery may only be had for

“sums of money paid in excess of the principal and legal rate of interest.”

### POINT 3

THE PAYMENT OF \$14,500.00 IN CONSIDERATION FOR A LOAN IS SUBJECT TO BEING TREBLED.

Plaintiff is inconsistent in its argument, on one hand saying the \$14,500.00 was paid to Frank A. Nelson Jr. and paid by Nelson to plaintiff, and in the next argument saying the \$14,500.00 was a discount taken by plaintiff and does not comply with the statute as interest paid. This was a commission or bonus paid by defendant. It would not change the result if defendant had used other money of its own to pay plaintiff the usurious bonus, as when the loan was executed the \$14,500.00 became money which was then the personal property of defendant.

Defendant received the sum of \$65,000.00 on which interest was provided at nine per cent (9%) per annum, and when payments were made, plaintiff charged interest on the entire \$65,000.00. The \$14,500.00 received

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